#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

MCI provides long distance telephone service in Florida. To enable customers to reach MCI's network from their telephones, MCI purchases "access" service from the local telephone companies, such as Southern Bell or Centel. That service is governed by an Access Services Tariff filed by Southern Bell on behalf of all local telephone companies. AT&T Communications of the Southern States (ATT-C), and the other long distance companies that do business in Florida, also purchase access service from the local telephone companies.

MCI pays tax at the rate of 1-1/2 percent on its gross receipts from the sale of intrastate long distance telephone service. § 203.01(1), Fla. Stat.  $\frac{2}{}$  For purposes of the gross receipts tax law, the access service purchased by MCI from the local telephone companies is deemed to be "resold" by MCI to its long distance customers.

Prior to January 1, 1985 (the effective date of Sections 3 and 4, Chapter 84-342, Laws of Florida), the local telephone companies paid the gross receipts tax on

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{2}{2}$  The gross receipts tax is imposed on sales of telephone and other utility services in Florida. It historically has differed from a sales tax in that it is not collected as a separate item from the user, but is included by the seller in the tariffed price for the service.

their access service revenues from MCI and the other long distance companies. MCI, in turn, was entitled to a credit against its gross receipts tax for the tax paid by the local companies on the access service "resold" by MCI. § 203.011, Fla. Stat. (1983) The local telephone companies' tariffed rates for access services included an amount sufficient for them to pay the gross receipts tax. Thus the local exchange companies paid the gross receipts tax on access services, but passed that cost on to the long distance companies through access charges.

Effective January 1, 1985, the liability for payment of the gross receipts tax on the value of access services was shifted from the local companies to the long distance companies. MCI now pays that tax on its total gross receipts from long distance service without any credit for resold access service. The local companies, in turn, now exclude access charge payments received from long distance companies in calculating their own taxable gross receipts.<sup>3/</sup>

This amendment to the tax law did not change the state's total gross receipts tax revenues. It merely shifted the

<sup>3/</sup> This change was accomplished by the repeal of the credit provision contained in Section 203.011 (see § 3, Ch. 84-342, Laws of Fla.), and the simultaneous amendment of the definition of gross receipts to exclude revenues from resold services from the local companies' gross receipts. (See § 4, Ch. 84-342, Laws of Fla., codified as § 203.01(3)(c), Fla. Stat.)

liability for payment from one set of taxpayers (the local companies) to another (the long distance companies).<sup>4</sup>/ The amendment also did not change the principle that the value of access services was to be taxed once and only once. This principle was preserved by excluding access charges from the local companies' taxable receipts at the same time that the law eliminated the long distance companies' right to a tax credit related to access charge payments.

The Commission considered the ratemaking impact of the 1984 amendment during hearings in September and October 1984 in its continuing docket on access charges. The effect of that change had not been initially identified as an issue in that case; it was added on the next to last day of hearings. (Tr. 2932-2933) The record on this issue is therefore sparse.

When the issue was introduced, the Commission recognized that to avoid a windfall to the local companies (and a corresponding "double tax" to the long distance companies) it would be necessary to reduce the 1985 rates for access services by the amount of the gross receipts tax indirectly collected through those rates in 1984. (Tr. 2932-2936)

<sup>4/</sup> Chapter 84-342 also imposed a new tax on a portion of the gross receipts from interstate long distance calls that originate or terminate in Florida. The gross receipts tax law was amended again in 1985 by Chapter 85-174, Laws of Fla. Neither of these amendments affects the issue presented on appeal.

Without such a reduction, the local exchange companies would continue to recover revenues to pay a tax for which they were no longer liable, and the long distance companies would in effect pay the tax twice -- once to the state and a second time through the access rates they were charged by the local companies. The Commission recognized the adjustment as a legal requirement, and directed the parties to attempt to reach a stipulation as to the mechanics of implementation. (Tr. 2932; 2934; 2936)

ATT-C's witness Neal later appeared to explain the parties' agreement that access charges should be reduced by 1-1/2 percent in 1985 to account for the tax law change. (Tr. 3513-3521) The implication from his testimony, although never clearly stated, was that all access charges representing "resold" services should be reduced by 1-1/2 percent.

The Commission, however, did not order a 1-1/2 percent across-the-board reduction in access service rates. Instead, it calculated the total reduction required -- \$6.15 million -- and then applied the entire reduction to the rates charged by the local companies for billing and collection services provided under the Access Services Tariff. (A. 4)  $\frac{5}{}$ 

<sup>5/</sup> Billing and collection is a service under which the local company will, for a price, record calls made over long distance carriers, bill the caller on behalf of the long (continued)

The Commission's stated reason for singling out the billing and collection portion of the tariff for special treatment was as follows:

> We believe it is appropriate to reflect the adjustments in this portion of the tariff because we have been informed that ATT-C intends to establish its own billing and collection system rather than continuing the present arrangement wherein the LECs [local exchange companies] bill for ATT-C under contract. Reduction in the billing and collection charges to ATT-C may serve as an incentive for ATT-C not to establish its own billing and collection system which, in our opinion, would impose additional costs on the ratepayers of this state by requiring them to pay two separate bills for telephone service. If ATT-C proceeds with its plans, then the revenue loss to the LECs would be that much less and our task in determining where that loss would be recovered would also be lessened. (emphasis added)

(A. 4-5)

There is no competent substantial evidence to support the Commission's findings that ATT-C intends to establish its own billing system, or that a reduction in the billing and collection charge would affect any such decision. The only

distance company, and collect those bills for the long distance company. Billing and collection service is only a minor part of the total array of access services. Approximately 8% of the total access charges to long distance companies during 1984 were for billing and collection service (\$35.5 million for billing and collection out of a total of \$429.5 million for all access services). (Tr. 3168; A. 4)

testimony relating to these findings is set out in full in part II of this brief, at pages 16-17.

MCI filed a timely petition for reconsideration of the foregoing portion of the Commission's order. In its petition, MCI pointed out that the local companies offer billing and collection service only to long distance companies that are able to obtain "equal access." (R. 319-320) <u>6</u>/ Today, ATT-C is the only long distance company that enjoys such access in large areas of the state. Thus billing and collection service generally is available only to ATT-C and not to the five other long distance companies (including MCI) that do business in Florida.

Because billing and collection service is purchased almost entirely by ATT-C, the Commission's decision gave the overwhelming majority of the \$6.15 million access service rate reduction to ATT-C, and virtually no rate reduction to other long distance carriers. $\frac{7}{}$  MCI argued that such a

<sup>6/</sup> Oversimplified, "equal access" enables a telephone customer to predesignate which long distance company will handle his phone calls when he places a long distance call by dialing "1" followed by an area code and telephone number. Historically, customers have been able to reach only ATT-C using this simplified dialing pattern. Equal access was first introduced by Southern Bell in some parts of Florida in October, 1984 and eventually will be available in most parts of the state.

<sup>7/</sup> The possibility of linking the gross receipts tax law change to the billing and collection charge was never discussed in the record. Therefore, there is no evidence on the precise impact of the Commission's decision on the (continued)

result was improper, since the legislature had shifted only a portion of the underlying \$6.15 gross receipts tax liability to ATT-C, with the remainder of that liability having been shifted to the five other long distance companies. (R. 320)

The Commission denied MCI's petition, stating that:

Upon consideration, we deny MCI's request for reconsideration of this issue. We recognize that the data presented in this proceeding was imperfect, however, we believe it appropriate to reflect this adjustment in the billing and collection tariff element as discussed in Order No. 13934. . .

(A. 24)

This appeal followed.

discussed in the record. Therefore, there is no evidence on the precise impact of the Commission's decision on the various long distance companies. MCI estimates that carriers other than ATT-C purchase substantially less than 1% of the total billing and collection service sold by the local companies. The Commission seems to have assumed that ATT-C purchases 100% of that service, since it implemented another \$13.2 million rate adjustment relating to a refund to ATT-C by reducing the billing and collection service rates by that amount. (A. 4)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The gross receipts tax law was amended effective January 1, 1985 to shift the tax liability for access service from the local company that provides the service to the long distance company that resells the service. The legislature insured that this amendment would not result in double taxation within the four corners of the taxing statute. Additional action by the Commission was required to insure that double taxation did not occur through the ratemaking process.

In 1984, the gross receipts tax had been embedded in the access service rates charged by the local companies to the long distance companies. The Commission and all parties agreed that to prevent a windfall to the local companies, and a double tax to the long distance companies, access service rates for 1985 had to be reduced by \$6.15 million -- the amount of tax liability that was being shifted.

The Commission addressed only the windfall; it compounded, rather than solved, the problem of double taxation. Instead of an even-handed 1-1/2 percent rate reduction for all resold access services, the Commission ordered an approximate 17% reduction for billing and collection service (\$6.15 million reduction/\$35.5 million total) and no reduction for any other access service.

-9-

Billing and collection service generally can be purchased only by one long distance company, ATT-C. The order therefore grants ATT-C a rate reduction large enough to offset both the tax now paid by itself and the tax now paid by all other long distance companies; MCI and the others must both pay the tax on services they resell and pay rates for those services that continue to have an allowance for gross receipts tax embedded in them. This discriminatory result is arbitrary and inequitable on its face and must be reversed.

The Commission's rationale for this decision was totally unrelated to the gross receipts tax law. The Commission admitted that it hoped to induce ATT-C not to establish its own billing system, and to make it easier for the Commission to deal with the future consequences to the local companies and their ratepayers if ATT-C did develop such a system. Yet no competent substantial evidence was introduced to show ATT-C is even planning to implement a general billing system, much less whether a \$6.15 million rate reduction would influence ATT-C's decision.

Even if the meager evidence in the record could sustain such inferences, the Commission's decision would still fail. This Court never has allowed the Commission to arbitrarily benefit one group of ratepayers at the expense of another in order to ease its own future decision making. The Commission's attempt to do so in this case is a blatant abuse of discretion.

-10-

#### ARGUMENT

I. The Commission acted arbitrarily and abused its discretion when it used a revenue-neutral change in the gross receipts tax law as an excuse to lower the total access charge/gross receipts tax burden on one long distance company and raise the access charge/gross receipts tax burden for all other long distance companies.

A Commission action cannot be upheld where the Commission has acted arbitrarily or has abused its discretion. <u>Citizens of the State of Florida v. Public</u> <u>Service Commission</u>, 425 So.2d 534, 539 (Fla. 1982); <u>Shevin</u> <u>v. Yarborough</u>, 274 So.2d 505, 508-509 (Fla. 1973). The Commission's implementation of the gross receipts taxrelated rate reduction in this case is arbitrary on its face, constitutes an abuse of discretion, and therefore must be overturned.

# A. The Commission arbitrarily favored one long distance company at the expense of its competitors.

By enactment of Chapter 84-342, the legislature shifted the burden for payment of the tax on access services from one group of taxpayers (the local companies) to another (the long distance companies). In a stated effort to "reflect changes brought about by the new Gross Receipts Tax Law" the Commission reduced the local companies' rates for access

-11-

services by the \$6.15 million tax burden they would no longer bear. (A. 4) This reduction made the tax law change revenue-neutral to the local companies, in accordance with the parties' understanding of the legislative intent. (See, Tr. 2934)

But the Commission failed to reduce the access rates paid by each long distance company in proportion to the tax burden it would bear under the new law. Instead, it applied the entire reduction to a service that is usable in significant quantities only by ATT-C. (A. 23-24) This action dramatically increases the tax-related burden carried by MCI and the other long distance companies. MCI now must pay to the state 1-1/2 percent of every revenue dollar from resold access, and must continue to pay to the local companies an access charge rate that includes a 1-1/2percent allowance originally designed to provide the local companies with the revenues needed to pay the tax. ATT-C, on the other hand, received the benefit of almost 100% of the tax related reduction in total access charge payments, even though it assumed responsibility for payment of much less than 100% of the gross receipts taxes formerly embedded in the access charge rates. The Commission, therefore, arbitrarily favored one group of taxpayers, ATT-C, over another group of similarly situated taxpayers, the remaining long distance companies that do business in Florida.

-12-

To avoid arbitrarily creating winners and losers from a tax law change that was intended to be revenue neutral, the Commission must reduce the rates for all access services resold by long distance companies by 1-1/2 percent across-the-board. Any other solution, no matter how well intentioned, reduces the total burden borne by one long distance company, or group of companies, at the expense of its competitors. $\frac{8}{7}$ 

## B. The Commission's abused its descretion by basing its decision in part on the desire to ease its future regulatory burden.

The Commission's initial decision to consider the tax law change as an issue in the ongoing access charge proceeding was motivated by its desire to avoid any windfalls to the local companies or shortages to the long distance companies:

> COMMISSIONER CRESSE: . . .that is the law and we ought to take cognizance of that when we set access charges and not leave I guess any of the interexchange [long distance] companies short, or leave any surpluses with the local exchange companies because of the change in tax law that is within our capability to adjust.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{8}{1}$  In its Petition for Reconsideration, MCI suggested an alternative that provides rough justice; i.e., applying the entire rate reduction to a single access service that is available to, and used by, all long distance companies. While not quite as precise as a 1-1/2 percent reduction in each access rate, this solution might be administratively easier to implement. (R. 320)

As a matter of fact, I think the law was drafted to become effective Januray 1, 1985, because of the legislature's awareness that we would readdress the access charges prior to that date. It was kept like it is until that time because we had already set access charges.

(Tr. 2934)

By the time of the Commission's decision, it had lost sight of this goal. Instead, the Commission changed its focus to the availability of a \$6.15 million "surplus" in access rates and tried to determine how to best put those funds to use, without regard to the whether that use would "leave . . . any of the interexchange companies short." As indicated by the discussion in its order, the Commission ultimately decided to use this "surplus" in a way that would minimize the potential future impact on local rates, so as to ease the regulatory task it would face if ATT-C ever decided to implement its own billing and collection The Commission's desire to make its future system. (A. 5) life easier is understandable, but does not make its decision any less arbitrary or inequitable.

There is only one method of reflecting the tax law changes that would not arbitrarily shift the total burden among the various long distance companies. Therefore the case should be remanded with directions for the Commission to implement the adjustment in the form of an across-theboard 1-1/2 percent reduction from 1984 rate levels for

-14-

those access services that are subject to resale by long distance companies.

# II. The Commission's decision to reduce the rate paid by ATT-C for billing and collection service was not supported by competent substantial evidence.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the Commission could lawfully discriminate between similarly situated groups of long distance companies in giving effect to the tax law change, there is no competent substantial evidence to support the decision reached in this case.

It is well settled that the Commission's decisions must be supported by competent substantial evidence. <u>Duval</u> <u>Utility Company v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 380 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1980); <u>Citizens of Florida v. Hawkins</u>, 356 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1978); <u>City of Plant City v. Mayo</u>, 337 So.2d 966, 974 (Fla. 1976).

Competent substantial evidence was defined in the <u>Duval</u> <u>Utility</u> case as follows:

> Competent substantial evidence is "such evidence as will establish a substantial basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be reasonably inferred [or] . . .such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept as adequate to support a conclusion." <u>De Groot v.</u> Sheffield, 95 So.2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957)

380 So.2d at 1031. In <u>Citizens v. Hawkins</u>, the Court made it clear that this standard must be applied separately to

-15-

each finding on which the agency's action depends:

Each determination must be based on specific independent findings supported by competent substantial evidence. [citations omitted]

356 So.2d at 259. The evidence here does not meet the standards articulated by the Court.

The Commission's decision to reflect the gross receipts tax change solely in the charge for billing and collection service hinges on its findings that:

> . ...[1] we have been informed that ATT-C intends to establish its own billing and collection system rather than continuing the present arrangement wherein the LECs [local exchange companies] bill for ATT-C under contract. [2] Reduction in the billing and collection charges to ATT-C may serve as an incentive for ATT-C not to establish its own billing and collection system. . .

(A. 4-5)

The only support in the record relating to ATT-C's intent to establish its own billing system is the following testimony by ATT-C's witness Weber:

Q. Does your company currently pay local exchange carriers for billing and collection?

A. Yes, sir, we do.

Q. Do you plan at some time in the future to do your own billing and collections?

A. <u>We're going to do some of it</u>. We have definite plans to do more private line billing, and WATS and 800. Q. Could you give us the time frame on when you plan to start your own billing and collecting?

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