IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MCI TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP.,) \
Appellant,) }
v.) CASE NO. 66,945
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,))
Appellee.) _)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

DAVID E. SMITH Staff Counsel

WILLIAM S. BILENKY General Counsel

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 904/487-2740

Attorneys for Appellee Florida Public Service Commission

On The Brief:
Janet M. Brunson

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The change in Florida's gross receipts tax law created a potential windfall to LECs of \$6.15 million. The Commission recognized an equitable obligation to make an adjustment in access charges to eliminate that windfall. The Commission's \$6.15 million reduction in billing and collection charges achieved the goal of eliminating the LEC windfall. The adjustment did not cause MCI to pay double gross receipts tax or increase other elements of its access charge rates.

The decision to reduce billing and collection services was a proper exercise of the Commission's discretion in distributing the impact of rate adjustments. Billing and collection services is a particularly market-sensitive element of access charges. The Commission properly recognized that AT&T's plans to increase its own billing and collection should drive the cost of these services downward. The Commission further recognized that the total loss of billing and collection revenues would have a severe impact on the LECs. Its reduction of these charges was a legitimate attempt to deal with this problem. At the same time, the Commission also recognized that the income expectations of the LECs from billing and collection should be brought into line with market reality. The reduction

thus served the dual purpose of helping to maintain the use of LEC billing and collection by AT&T and the other IXCs but began reducing the LECs' dependency on excessive contribution from those services.

The parties to the access charge hearings stipulated on the methodology for removing the gross receipts tax element from access charges. The parties did not raise the issue of what specific elements of access charges should be reduced. There had been discussion in the hearing of reducing billing and collection services, and the parties could reasonably be presumed to be aware that the Commission might exercise its discretion in reducing billing and collection. The decision to reduce billing and collection services was based on competent evidence provided by AT&T and the LECs.

AT&T stated its intentions to do more billing and collection on its own. This was confirmed by the LECs. The LECs also provided the Commission with competent evidence on the pricing of billing and collection services and the impact of the loss of these revenues. The Commission's decision to reduce billing and collection services by \$6.15 million was a proper exercise of its discretionary ratemaking authority.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION TO REDUCE ACCESS CHARGE REVENUES BY \$6.15 MILLION THROUGH THE BILLING AND COLLECTION TARIFF TO OFF-SET THE LECS' REDUCED GROSS RECEIPTS TAX LIABILITY WAS A PROPER EXERCISE OF THE COMMISSION'S RATEMAKING AUTHORITY.

The Commission is not bound by statute or other law to adhere to a particular formula in setting rates and distributing their impact among customers. It has the discretion to set rates on "cost of service" as well as "value of service" criteria and may lawfully consider a wide range of other factors in establishing the level of rates for the various classes of customers. International Minerals and Chemical Corporation v. Mayo, 336 So.2d 548, 552 (Fla. 1976); Occidental Chemical Company v. Mayo, 351 So. 2d 336, 340 (Fla. 1977). There is no requirement that every class of customers provide a proportionate share of a utility's revenue requirement or that rate structures be entirely non-discriminatory. So long as there is a reasonable basis for the customer classification and it is not unduly discriminatory it must be upheld. City of Tallahassee v. Florida Public Service Commission, 441 So.2d 620, 623 (Fla. 1983); Polk County v. Florida Public Service Commission, 460 So.2d 370, 373 (Fla. 1984). Appellant, MCI stands before this Court as a disgruntled customer complaining only that the Commission has modified the access charge structure in a way which does not allow it to benefit as much as AT&T from \$6.15 million gross receipts tax reduction. Its complaint cannot support a charge of discriminatory rates or a classification not based on reasonable grounds.

A. The Commission properly eliminated the windfall to LECs which would have resulted had they continued to collect revenues to meet a non-existent gross receipts tax obligation.

The primary function of the hearings held by the Commission in September and October of 1984 was to determine the level of intrastate access charges for 1985. Among the major issues to be addressed were the effect of going to a "bill and keep" system that would eliminate pooling arrangements between the companies, peak-load pricing and the institution of directory assistance charges. (A.6-7; 15-18). The gross receipts tax issue arose incidentally to that process.

The Commission was under no legal obligation to consider the effect of the change in Florida's gross receipts tax law. While Chapter 84-342 did create an obligation in the IXCs to pay gross receipts on all revenues without a credit for access services purchased from the LECs, it did not purport to change in any way the manner in which the companies derive the revenues to pay those taxes. The Commission and the parties, of course, recognized that from an equitable point of view the LECs were no longer entitled

expense. The Commission's ratemaking obligation was thus to eliminate the windfall that the LECs would experience by continuing to collect rates containing an element designed to cover gross receipts tax. There is no contention by Appellant MCI, or anyone else, that the Commission did not accomplish this goal by its \$6.15 million reduction of access charges. The end result of this process involving gross receipts tax is that the State of Florida will continue to collect the same amount of gross receipts tax as it had before the change in the law, hence, there is no double taxation, and the LECs have had their revenue requirement adjusted consistently with their tax needs.

B. The Commission properly used the gross receipts tax reduction to adjust billing and collection charges.

The essence of the Commission's access charge methodology has been that the marketplace will determine the appropriate level of access charges more effectively than regulatory schemes based on the allocation of embedded costs. (A.4) Of the many elements contained in the access charge tariff, one of those most sensitive to market forces is billing and collection services. At hearing, Commissioner Cresse raised this issue in his crossexamination of Centel witness Wahlen:

Commissioner Cresse: . . . since billing and collection is more market-based than it is cost-based, should we start backing some of that revenue out of billing and collection fees?

Witness Wahlen: I think you could do that to the degree that the current rates exceed the revenue requirement. Once you get down below the cost of billing then I think you are looking at shifting costs to the local ratepayers.

Commissioner Cresse: Below the cost, and that would be below the marginal cost of billing for the toll carrier, is that correct?

Witness Wahlen: Right.

(Tr. 3169-3170)

After establishing that billing and collection services was a likely area for reduction by the \$6.15 million excess in gross receipts tax, Commissioner Cresse asked for submission of a late filed exhibit, identified as 3-40-F, from all telephone companies. (A.30-42) The purpose of the exhibit was to "give us the cost that they would reduce if billing for the carrier of last resort (AT&T) was eliminated. That's the figure I'm looking for". (Tr. 3172)

During the course of their discussion witness Wahlen agreed with Commissioner Cresse that one of the reasons that billing and collection services might be a good place to reflect the \$6.15 million adjustment was because the current \$35.5 million revenue target for billing and collection might be so high as to encourage AT&T to do its own billing:

Commissioner Cresse: . . . "Should we have any concern that that rate may be so high as to encourage AT&T to establish their own billing and collection system?

Witness Wahlen: I think you absolutely should have, because I believe, if I'm not mistaken, AT&T has told us that they don't intend to continue to use their billing service more than another year or two." (Tr. 3168)

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that the Commission's consideration of billing and collection services as a place to reflect the \$6.15 million adjustment to gross receipts tax was in no sense arbitrary or ill-considered. Billing and collection services is a market driven rate element. The main user of the service, AT&T, could reasonably be expected to respond to the pressures in the marketplace in deciding whether it should continue its arrangement with the LECs or establish its own system. Commission could properly consider this factor in trying to reduce access charges to eliminate the windfall to LECs from former gross receipts tax revenues. At the same time, the Commission properly considered the effect that the elimination of some \$35.5 million in revenues would have on the LECs, should AT&T establish its own billing and collection system. The Commission in this case exercised essentially the same discretion in its ratemaking approach that it did in International Minerals cited above. There the Commission was upheld when it applied factors other than cost of service in setting rates. Among other things, the

Commission gave consideration to the impact of market forces which might cause large users of electricity to set up their own facilities for generation, if the cost of electricity were set too high. 336 So.2d 553.

It is the role of the Commission to set utility rates, not the Court. Florida Retail Federation v. Mayo, 331 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1976). Appellant, MCI and the other IXCs cannot accuse the Commission of arbitrariness or unreasonable discrimination in this case. The fact is that MCI will pay only the gross receipts tax that the law requires. Moreover, MCI is not excluded from the class of ratepayers in which AT&T is the predominent customer, even if it participates to a lesser degree than AT&T because of the limited availability of equal access. The Commission has not increased any rate burden of MCI. It still pays other access service rates set in the same manner as before the gross receipts tax reduction and may realize some savings from its share of the reduced billing and collection services rates. In any case, the Commission was not addressing any potential losses which might be suffered by customer-utilities such as MCI. That matter is for another forum in which MCI presumably would advocate a revenue requirement of its own sufficient to cover its access services expenses.

POINT II

THE COMMISSION'S DECISION TO REDUCE ACCESS CHARGES THROUGH THE BILLING AND COLLECTION SERVICES TARIFF WAS SUPPORTED BY THE STIPULATION OF THE PARTIES.

The parties to a proceeding may resolve any issue or controversy by stipulation. The stipulation takes the place of an adversarial, fact finding proceeding but is no less valid and binding on the parties. Resolution of issues by stipulation is quite common before the PSC, and it is not unusual for minor rate cases and overearnings cases to be settled entirely by stipulated agreement. Such agreements are favored by the legal system. <u>Utilities Commission of the City of New Smyrna Beach v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, No. 64,147 (Fla. Mar. 21, 1985).

The Commission gave the parties to the access charge hearing the opportunity to reach a stipulation on the gross receipts tax adjustment, and they did so. (Tr. 2934; 3513) The substance of the stipulation, that access charges should be effectively reduced by 1.5 percent, was presented by AT&T's expert accounting witness, William H. Neal, Jr. (Tr. 3513-3521) The Commission gave parties the opportunity to voice objections to the proposed procedure and to ask questions but there were none:

Commissioner Cresse: Okay. Mr. Chairman, I think that's exactly what's going to happen, and I just think we have to keep that in mind when we set the access charges, and I don't think there's any objection -- is there any objections to that formula being used?

Chairman Gunter: Anybody have any questions?

Commissioner Cresse: Mr. Chairman, there being no further business, I move we do now rise. (Tr. 3521)

Following Mr. Neal's presentation, the Commission certainly had reasonable grounds to believe that the parties had agreed that the LEC's access charge revenues should be reduced by approximately 1.5 percent. Moreover, it is also reasonable to assume that, after the exchange earlier in the afternoon between Commissioner Cresse and Mr. Wahlen (Tr. 3168-3175) the parties also knew that the Commission was considering reducing billing and collection services. the very least, the Commission could reasonably have concluded that the matter of reducing the LEC's access revenues had been left to its sound discretion. It would be naive to assume that the experts present were unaware of the complexity of reducing the tariffed access charges or that they did not understand the implications of their stipulation. If they did not, the forum to ask questions or voice protests was the Commission hearing room, not the courtroom. The parties present had actual notice of the issues raised and had an opportunity to respond.

POINT III

THE COMMISSION DECISION TO REDUCE ACCESS CHARGES BY \$6.15 MILLION THROUGH THE BILLING AND COLLECTION SERVICES TARIFF IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

As a general proposition, the Commission's exercise of its ratemaking discretion must be upheld if its fact finding as a whole supports its decision. 336 So.2d 553. There is ample record evidence in this case to support the Commission's findings that access charges should be reduced \$6.15 million through the billing and collection services tariff.

All parties accepted without contravention the testimony of AT&T's witness Neal that the change in Florida's gross receipts tax law should be reflected in a reduction of approximately 1.5 percent in access charges (Tr. 3513-3521) The testimony of Mr. Neal certainly contributes evidence which is "sufficiently relevant and material that a reasonable mind would accept it as adequate to support the conclusion reached. DeGroot v. Sheffield, 95 So.2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957)

Just as there was competent evidence that access charges should be reduced to reflect the gross receipts tax adjustment, there was competent evidence to show that a reasonable element of access charges to reduce was the billing and collection services tariff. Before the

adjustment, the LECs were receiving approximately \$35.5 million in revenue from charges assessed of IXCs under the billing and collection services tariff. (Tr. 3168) LEC witnesses Wahlen of Centel and Menard of Gentel confirmed to the Commission the obvious conclusion that this level of revenue was profitable to the LECs. (Tr. 3170; 2865) The Commission could reasonably conclude that the loss of those revenues, or their reductions below the cost of billing and collection would have a negative impact on the LECs (Tr. 3170)

In pursuit of information on the impact of the loss of billing and collection revenues, the Commission even went so far as to solicit a late filed exhibit, No. 3-40-F, from all LECs to determine what offsetting cost savings they might experience if they stopped billing for the IXCs, specifically AT&T. That exhibit was submitted to the Commission and became part of the record in this proceeding. (A.30-42)

Based on the testimony and exhibits filed, the

Commission had competent evidence before it to conclude that
the LECs would be hurt by AT&Ts discontinued use of the LECs
billing and collection services. The Commission could thus
reasonably believe, as confirmed by witness Wahlen (Tr.
3170), that it ought to be concerned about the possibility
of the loss of these revenues and begin adjusting them
downward toward a reasonable cost basis. This was

especially true in view of the possibility of AT&T setting up its own billing and collection system.

Although the evidence presented on the future plans of AT&T does not rise to level of irrefutable certainty, it does support the findings of the Commission, expressed in Order No. 13934, that a real possibility existed that AT&T would set up its own billing and collection system.

(A.4-5). It would be unreasonable to assume that the remarks of AT&T Vice President Weber were idle conversation in his exchange with United's Mr. Berg on this subject:

- Q. Do you plan at some time in the future to do your own billing and collection?
- A. We're going to do some of it. We have definite plans to do more private line billing, and WATS and 800.
- Q. Could you give us the time frame on when you plan to start your own billing and collecting?
- A. We are going to -- we have historically, always have done some private line billing, if you will. We are picking up more of the private line billing during '85, and we are looking at WATS and 800 in the '85-'86 time frame.

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